### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GEORGE I. WRIGHT,

Petitioner,

Supreme Court Case No.: SC04-137

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DCA Case No.: 2D03-3165

## PETITIONER GEORGE I. WRIGHT'S INITIAL BRIEF

MATTHEW J. CONIGLIARO Fla. Bar No. 63525 HUNTER W. CARROLL Fla. Bar No. 0297630 CARLTON FIELDS, P.A. Post Office Box 2861 St. Petersburg, FL 33731-2861 Telephone: (727) 821-7000 Facsimile: (727) 822-3768

Counsel for Petitioner, George I. Wright

# **

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In 1979, Petitioner George I. Wright ("Mr. Wright"), in an omnibus sentencing hearing, pleaded guilty to armed robbery counts in two separate cases (Case Numbers 79-4802 and 79-4803), along with other lesser charges. (R. 11-22).<sup>1</sup> The plea reveals that the offenses occurred in 1979. (R. 17-21). In each case, the court sentenced Mr. Wright to 75 years' incarceration. (R. 8-9). The sentences were to run concurrent, and in each case the court retained jurisdiction over one-third of the sentence, notwithstanding that section 947.16(3), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1978), provided that jurisdiction may be retained in only one of two or more concurrent sentences. (R. 8-9).

The sentencing colloquy shows that the sentencing court specifically advised Mr. Wright that he would be ineligible for parole during the period the court retained jurisdiction over his sentences. (R. 13). Furthermore, and critically important here, the record shows that the sentencing court did not set forth any justification for retaining jurisdiction over either sentence, contrary to the express language of section 947.16(3)(a), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1978). (R. 7-22).

In 2002, Mr. Wright, pro se, filed a motion pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a) to correct his illegal sentences. (R. 2), (A. 2). In the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citations to the record on appeal shall be in the form (R. x), with x being the page number. Citations to the accompanying Appendix shall be in the form (A. y), with y being the tab number.

motion, Mr. Wright contended that, contrary to the statute authorizing the retention of jurisdiction, the sentencing court (1) impermissibly retained jurisdiction over two concurrent sentences, and (2) failed to justify the retention in either case. (R. 4-5). Because of these statutory violations, Mr. Wright contended that the retention of jurisdiction over his sentences was illegal and should be invalidated. (R. 4-7).

Through two orders, the trial court granted the motion in part and denied it in part. (A. 3-4). Granting the motion on the first ground, the trial court ruled that "Florida law is clear that the Court could only retain jurisdiction over one concurrent sentence." (R. 24). Accordingly, the trial court relinquished jurisdiction over case number 79-4803. (R. 33).

As to Mr. Wright's contention that the sentencing court failed to justify its retention of jurisdiction, the trial court stated, incorrectly, that it was "unclear what reasons were given for retention of jurisdiction" and that an evidentiary hearing "would probably" be necessary to determine this. (R. 30). However, as Mr. Wright alleged and the judgments and sentences and sentencing transcript show, no justification was given for the retention of jurisdiction. (R. 3-4, 8-22). The trial court further stated that it read <u>King v. State</u>, 805 So. 2d 966 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001), and <u>Mobley v. State</u>, 590 So. 2d 1023 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001), to require claims regarding reasons for retaining jurisdiction to be brought on direct appeal, not in a

motion to correct an illegal sentence, and that the court would follow those cases over the (supposedly) conflicting decisions in <u>Macias v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d 1216 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993), and <u>Hampton v. State</u>, 764 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). (R. 30). The trial court accordingly held that Mr. Wright's claim was procedurally barred. (R. 30). The court made no mention of <u>King v. State</u>, 835 So. 2d 1224 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), where the Second District expressly held that a sentencing court's justification for retaining jurisdiction may be challenged through a rule 3.800(a) motion.

Mr. Wright, still pro se, appealed the trial court's order.<sup>2</sup> The Second District implicitly recognized the trial court's error in interpreting the district court's precedents. However, rather than reversing the trial court's ruling that Mr. Wright could not challenge the justifications for retaining jurisdiction through a rule 3.800(a) motion, as the Second District permitted in <u>King v. State</u>, 835 So. 2d 1224 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), the Second District heard the appeal en banc and receded from <u>King</u>. <u>Wright v. State</u>, 864 So. 2d 1153, 1154-55 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003); (R. 107-08), (A. 1). Relying on this Court's decision in <u>Davis v. State</u>, 661 So. 2d 1193 (Fla. 1995), the en banc court held that Mr. Wright's challenge was

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The Record on Appeal contains many papers filed by Mr. Wright in his effort to prosecute an appeal from this order, but apparently there were technical defects with those papers. (R. 36-63). The Second District ultimately permitted Mr. Wright to proceed. (R. 63). These separate matters are not relevant to this Court's review.

not cognizable in a rule 3.800(a) motion because a reservation of jurisdiction without setting forth sufficient justification was not an "illegal sentence" under the rule. 864 So. 2d at 1154-55; (R. 107-08). The court certified that its new position expressly and directly conflicted with decisions of the First, Third, and Fourth Districts, including the decisions in <u>Macias</u> and <u>Hampton</u>.

With regard to Mr. Wright's rule 3.800(a) claim that the sentencing court had improperly retained jurisdiction over two concurrent sentences, the Second District expressly affirmed the grant of relief in vacating the retention on one sentence. <u>Id.</u> at 1154; (R. 107). The court thus affirmed the trial court's decision in its entirety. The Second District did not explain how a rule 3.800(a) challenge was proper with regard to this aspect of retained jurisdiction but improper with regard to the sentencing court's failure to comply with the statutory justification requirement.

Still pro se, Mr. Wright petitioned this Court to review the Second District's en banc decision. This Court has postponed its decision on jurisdiction, ordered a briefing schedule, and appointed counsel to represent Mr. Wright on a pro bono basis before this Court.

This brief is filed pursuant to the Court's order.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>Point I.</u> This Court has never adopted an exclusive definition of an illegal sentence. The Court has instead characterized an illegal sentence by focusing on the patent nature of the error, the need for an evidentiary hearing to confirm the error's existence, and whether the erroneous sentence is such that it could not be imposed under any circumstances. The erroneous sentence in this case shares the characteristics of other sentences the Court has found to be illegal.

Furthermore, the Second District erred in relying on <u>Davis v. State</u> to hold that a failure to provide sufficient justification for a retention of jurisdiction is no different than a failure to provide written reasons to support a departure sentence. To the contrary, the two situations are vastly different. The first is a mere error in the process of sentencing, akin, possibly, to an error in the course of a trial. By comparison, an error in retaining jurisdiction without complying with the statutory requirements for making such a retention triggers a significant constitutional concern: a separation of powers violation.

The retention of jurisdiction authority set forth in section 947.16(3), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1978), expressly permits a trial court to veto a Parole and Pardon Commission decision to grant an inmate parole. Traditionally, however, the execution of a sentence lies with the executive branch, and, more importantly, article IV, section 8(c), of the Florida Constitution expressly and textually assigns

the power to grant paroles to a legislatively created parole and pardon commission. While this Court upheld this statute from a separation of powers challenge in <u>Borden v. State</u>, it remains clear that the statutory authorization is the only possible source of the judiciary's authority to intrude on executive branch decisions to grant parole and veto those decisions.

Accordingly, absent compliance with the statute, an unconstitutional intrusion of power occurs and continues for as long as the trial court wrongly exercises jurisdiction over the executive branch's authority to parole an inmate. For these reasons, the failure to comply with the statutory justification requirement results in an illegal sentence that can be corrected under rule 3.800(a) at any time.

<u>Point II.</u> Alternatively, the Court should revisit its fractured decision in <u>Borden</u> and recede from the result there. In <u>Borden</u>, an inmate argued that the reservation of jurisdiction statute violated the express language of article IV, section 8(c), which provides that the Legislature may create a parole and pardon commission with the power to grant paroles.

Rejecting that argument, a three-justice opinion conducted no analysis of the specific separation of powers issue before the Court and simply relied on a prior decision that had no bearing whatsoever on whether the Legislature could constitutionally assign the judiciary the power to veto an executive branch decision to parole an inmate. A fourth justice simply stated he believed the statute to be

constitutional, leaving no majority decision articulating a rationale as to how the Legislature could possibly overcome article IV, section 8(c)'s express provision that the power to grant paroles should be assigned to a parole and pardon commission.

The three-justice dissent in <u>Borden</u> analyzed the situation and reached the correct result: the retention of jurisdiction statute is unconstitutional. To permit the Legislature to give the judiciary a veto over the executive decision to grant parole is to permit a clear violation of the constitutional separation of powers.

This Court has the authority to correct an erroneous legal analysis in its precedent and recede from an incorrect decision. The Court should do so now, in this case, and declare the retention of jurisdiction unconstitutional. Such a sentence is an illegal one and is correctable through rule 3.800(a).

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The issues before this Court involve pure questions of law, and, as such, this Court's review is de novo. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>Armstrong v. Harris</u>, 773 So. 2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000).

#### ARGUMENT

### I. THE JUDICIARY'S ERRONEOUS RETENTION OF A VETO OVER THE PAROLE COMMISSION'S RELEASE AUTHORITY IS A PATENT, CONSTITUTIONALLY SIGNIFICANT HARM THAT SHOULD BE CORRECTED AT ANY TIME.

Under section 947.16(3), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1978), a sentencing judge could elect to retain jurisdiction over portions of certain criminal sentences. Among the statute's requirements were that the court must justify the retention "with individual particularity" and make the justification part of the record. § 947.16(3)(a), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1978). The district courts have held that this requirement is satisfied only where a particular and legally sufficient basis for retaining jurisdiction is set forth. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Hampton v. State</u>, 764 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000); <u>Macias v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d 1216, 1217 (Fla. 3th DCA 1991); <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 458 So. 2d 1132, 1133-34 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); <u>Abbott v. State</u>, 421 So. 2d 24, 24 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). This Court has stated that jurisdiction should be retained "sparingly and carefully." <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 414 So. 2d 512, 514 n.\* (Fla. 1982).

Three district courts have expressly held, in various contexts, that the failure to satisfy the justification requirement creates an illegal sentence that can be corrected at any time by a rule 3.800(a) motion. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Hampton</u>, 764 So. 2d at 830; <u>Macias</u>, 614 So. 2d at 1217; <u>Anderson v. State</u>, 584 So. 2d 1127, 1127 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). The Second District had been in agreement with these other districts,

<u>see King v. State</u>, 835 So. 2d 1224 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), but in the en banc decision below, written without the benefit of briefing by any attorney, the Second District receded from that position. <u>Wright v. State</u>, 864 So. 2d 1153 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003). The Second District held that this Court's decision in <u>Davis v. State</u>, 661 So. 2d 1193 (Fla. 1995), governed the context of unarticulated sentencing justifications and that, as the sentence there was found not to be an illegal one under rule 3.800(a), the failure to comply with the justification requirements for retaining jurisdiction over a sentence does not result in an illegal sentence as well.

As Mr. Wright now shows, the Second District's decision was incorrect and should be quashed by this Court. The failure to comply with the statutory requirements for permitting the judiciary to veto a parole release decision gives rise to an illegal sentence, remediable at any time under rule 3.800(a).

#### A. THIS COURT HAS NOT ADOPTED AN EXCLUSIVE DEFINITION OF "ILLEGAL SENTENCE."

Since the Court adopted rule 3.800 in 1967, subsection (a) of the rule has permitted trial courts in criminal cases to correct an "illegal sentence" at any time. At no point, however, has this Court set forth an exclusive definition of that term, either in the rule itself or through case law. Rather, through a series of recent cases, the Court has begun the process of expressly considering the term's applicability on a situation-specific basis. The Court's recent effort to examine what sentences are "illegal" for purposes of rule 3.800(a) began with <u>Davis v. State</u>, 661 So. 2d 1193 (Fla. 1995). There, the Court rejected a claim that a sentence departing from the sentencing guidelines without contemporaneous written reasons constituted an illegal sentence. <u>Id.</u> at 1196. Instead, the Court held, only a sentence that exceeds the maximum sentence set forth by law without regard to the guidelines is an illegal sentence. <u>Id.</u> ("Only if the sentence exceeds the maximum allowed by law would the sentence be illegal."). This language was unclear regarding whether the Court was explaining what sort of guideline departure would constitute an illegal sentence or whether the Court was limiting rule 3.800(a) to instances where a sentence is imposed beyond the statutory maximum period.

The Court resolved that uncertainty in subsequent cases. Despite the potentially restrictive language of <u>Davis</u>, the Court held in <u>Hopping v. State</u>, 708 So. 2d 263, 265 (Fla. 1998), that a sentence increased on resentencing in violation of constitutional double jeopardy principles constituted an illegal sentence. In <u>State v. Mancino</u>, 714 So. 2d 429, 433 (Fla. 1998), the Court held that a sentence not crediting a prisoner properly for time served was an illegal sentence, and in <u>Carter v. State</u>, 786 So. 2d 1173, 1180 (Fla. 2001), the Court held that a habitual offender sentence based on a crime for which Florida Statutes did not permit enhanced punishment for habitual offenders was an illegal sentence.

At times, the Court has attempted to characterize the sort of sentence that will constitute an illegal sentence. In State v. Callaway, 658 So. 2d 983 (Fla. 1995), receded from on other grounds, Dixon v. State, 730 So.2d 265, 269 (Fla. 1999), the Court stated that a rule 3.800 motion should be "limited to those sentencing issues that can be resolved as a matter of law without an evidentiary hearing." Id. at 988. In Mancino, while holding that an illegal sentence includes one failing to give proper credit for time served, the Court characterized the "evidentiary hearing" factor as one that would preclude use of rule 3.800(a) where such a hearing is necessary to establish the illegality. 714 So. 2d at 433 ("The entitlement to time served is not a disputed issue of fact in the sense that an evidentiary hearing is needed to determine whether there is such an entitlement."). Mancino further provided that "[a] sentence that patently fails to comport with statutory or constitutional limitations is by definition illegal." Id.

Most recently, in <u>Carter</u>, the Court suggested that the definition of "illegal sentence" offered in <u>Davis</u> may have been too narrow, while the characterization suggested in <u>Mancino</u> may have been too broad. <u>Carter</u>, 786 So. 2d at 1177. <u>Carter</u> approved a definition arrived at by the Fourth District's Judge Farmer when he attempted to synthesize the Court's case law: "[A] sentence is 'illegal' if it imposes a kind of punishment that no judge under the entire body of sentencing statutes could possibly inflict under any set of factual circumstances." <u>Carter</u>, 786

So. 2d at 1181 (quoting <u>Blakely v. State</u>, 746 So. 2d 1182, 1187 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999)).

This Court in <u>Carter</u> made clear, however, that Judge Farmer's definition was not exclusive, and perhaps not entirely accurate, by explaining that the Court based its approval on the fact the definition "<u>comes close</u> to formulating a workable definition of 'illegal' sentence." <u>Carter</u>, 786 So. 2d at 1181 (emphasis added). <u>Carter</u> also concluded that it might be "more helpful" for rule 3.800 to describe the types of sentencing errors correctable as illegal "rather than relying on a somewhat elusive definition of 'illegal sentence." <u>Id.</u>

Ultimately, the only immutable truth concerning an illegal sentence is that it is one that can be corrected at any time. See <u>Davis</u>, 661 So. 2d at 1196; <u>Callaway</u>, 658 So. 2d at 988 (Fla. 1995) ("A rule 3.800 motion can be filed at any time, even decades after a sentence has been imposed . . . ."). This Court has accepted a definition of an illegal sentence it called "close" to "workable," but the Court has never attempted to foresee all means by which sentencing errors may arise and to craft an exclusive rule regarding which such errors give rise to an illegal sentence.

Sentencing is a complex matter, and it continuously becomes more so. It is always possible that the Court will be faced with a previously unexplored error, similar to yet distinguishable from those previously examined, that results in an illegal sentence under rule 3.800(a). This is such a case.

### B. PETITIONER'S SENTENCE IS AN ILLEGAL SENTENCE BECAUSE THE ERROR IS PATENT AND IDENTIFIABLE WITHOUT A HEARING, AND IT CAUSES THE JUDICIARY TO INTRUDE ON THE EXECUTIVE'S CONSTITUTIONALLY PRESCRIBED ROLE OF GRANTING PAROLE RELEASE.

The sentence in this case is similar to the types of sentences that this Court has historically viewed as illegal sentences. The error is patent and identifiable without an evidentiary hearing, and under no set of facts could the retention of jurisdiction here, as made, be proper. More importantly, though, the sentence in this case is critically distinct from the types of illegal sentences this Court has previously considered. An erroneous reservation of jurisdiction creates a <u>continuing</u> constitutional infirmity -- an ongoing violation of the separation of powers provision set forth in article II, section 3, of the Florida Constitution.

As shown above, the Court has previously focused on whether a sentence's unlawfulness was patent or could be determined as a matter of law without an evidentiary hearing. <u>Mancino</u>, 714 So. 2d at 433; <u>see also Callaway</u>, 658 So. 2d at 988. The reservation of jurisdiction in this case presents precisely this type of error. Section 947.16(3)(a), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1978), required the sentencing court to provide sufficient justification for retaining jurisdiction, using "individual particularity." <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Hampton</u>, 764 So. 2d at 830; <u>Macias v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d at 1217; <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 458 So. 2d at 1133-34; <u>Abbott v. State</u>, 421 So. 2d at 24. Here, as shown by the record, neither the judgment and sentence nor the sentencing

transcript reveals any justification for the court's retention of jurisdiction, let alone a legally sufficient justification. The error is patent and can be verified without dispute and as a matter of law.

The error also resulted in the sort of punishment that no judge could impose under any factual circumstances. <u>See Carter</u>, 786 So. 2d at 1181 (quoting <u>Blakely</u> <u>v. State</u>, 746 So. 2d 1182, 1187 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999)). No sentencing judge could retain jurisdiction over Mr. Wright's sentence unless the judge complied with section 947.16(3), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1978), which required a sentencing court to set forth a legally sufficient justification for retaining jurisdiction in order to do so. Regardless of the actual facts in Mr. Wright's case, as a matter of law he could not be subjected to the trial court's continuing jurisdiction over him without a legally sufficient justification having been set forth at sentencing.

In the decision below, the Second District relied upon this Court's opinion in <u>Davis</u> and held that a challenge to the sufficiency of a sentencing court's reasons for retaining jurisdiction is analogous to a challenge to a sentencing court's failure to failure to provide reasons for a departure sentence. The Second District erred. While both situations involve reasons for particular choices in the sentencing process, the similarities end there.

<u>Davis</u> involved the statutory procedure for departing from the statutory sentencing guidelines and the requirement that a trial court provide written reasons

for a departure. <u>See § 921.001(6)</u>, Fla. Stat. (1989). The Court concluded that the failure to file written reasons for an upward departure does not constitute an illegal sentence under rule 3.800(a). <u>Davis</u>, 661 So. 2d at 1196. <u>Davis</u> relied on <u>Gartrell</u> <u>v. State</u>, 626 So. 2d 1364 (Fla. 1994), where the Court reached the same conclusion with respect to downward departures. Neither <u>Gartrell</u> nor <u>Davis</u>, however, offered any analytical basis for the Court's decision. <u>Davis</u> simply emphasized, by way of comparison, that a sentence exceeding the statutory maximum for a particular offense amounts to an illegal sentence under rule 3.800(a).

The decisions in <u>Gartrell</u> and <u>Davis</u> were, in all likelihood, based on the Court's view of the magnitude of the sentencing error at issue. Whether a departure sentence is upward or downward, so long as the defendant has received a sentence within the maximum period set forth by law for a particular offense, the error is comparable to an error in the underlying guilt proceedings and, like such errors, is correctable through other appellate avenues. The actual sentence, while perhaps the result of error, is not "illegal" and cannot be corrected at any time.

An erroneous retention of jurisdiction presents an entirely different situation because it creates a continuing wrong that concerns, and can create conflict with, one of our state's fundamental governing principles: the separation of powers. The Florida Constitution divides the state government into three branches and expressly states that officers of one branch may not exercise the powers of another:

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