IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GEORGE I. WRIGHT,

PETITIONER,

v.

CASE NO.:SC04-137
DCA CASE No.:2D03-3165

STATE OF FLORIDA,

RESPONDENT.

_____/

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM
THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
STATE OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, Jr. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS

Chief-Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, Tampa Criminal Appeals Florida Bar No. 238538

JONATHAN P. HURLEY

Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 160520
Concourse Center 4
3507 Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813)287-7900
(813)281-5500(Fax)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: Petitioner argues the trial court's alleged failure to comply with the statutory justification requirement which permits a court to retain jurisdiction over one-third of a defendant's sentence results in an illegal sentence that can be corrected at any time under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a).

Based upon this Court's holdings in <u>Davis v. State</u>, 661 So.2d 1193, 1196 (Fla. 1995), and <u>Maddox v. State</u>, 760 So.2d 89, 107-08 (Fla. 2000), Respondent submits the Second District Court of Appeal correctly determined a trial court's failure to provide reasons for retaining jurisdiction over sentencing does not result in an illegal sentence. Thus, relief via a 3.800(a) motion to correct an illegal sentence is unavailable.

ISSUE II: Petitioner challenges the constitutionality of section 947.16(3), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1978). Respondent notes this issue was never raised in the trial court nor was the issue raised for the first time on direct appeal to the appellate court below as a matter of fundamental error. Consequently, this issue is not properly before this Court. Furthermore, this Court should adhere to the doctrine of stare decisis and affirm the statute's constitutionality as

determined in Borden v. State, 402 So.2d 1176 (Fla. 1981).

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER A RULE 3.800(a) MOTION TO CORRECT ILLEGAL SENTENCE IS A PROPER VEHICLE TO CHALLENGE THE LEGAL SUFFICIENCY OF AN ORDER RETAINING JURISDICTION OVER ONE-THIRD OF A DEFENDANT'S SENTENCE.

(As restated by

Respondent)

Petitioner argues the trial court's alleged failure to comply with the statutory justification requirement which permits a court to retain jurisdiction over one-third of a defendant's sentence results in an illegal sentence that can be corrected at any time under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a). According to Petitioner, such an error is patent and identifiable without an evidentiary hearing; under no set of facts would the retention of jurisdiction be proper; and the erroneous reservation of jurisdiction creates an ongoing violation of the separation of powers provision set forth in article II, section 3, of the Florida Constitution. (Petitioner's Initial Brief at 8-21).

Based upon this Court's holdings in <u>Davis v. State</u>, 661
So.2d 1193, 1196 (Fla. 1995), and <u>Maddox v. State</u>, 760 So.2d
89, 107-08 (Fla. 2000), Respondent contends the Second
District Court of Appeal properly held that a challenge to a
trial court's failure to provide reasons for retaining
jurisdiction over sentencing is not a cognizable claim by way

of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a) motion to correct an illegal sentence. The standard of review involving pure questions of law is de novo. See e.g., Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So.2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000).

In 1979, Petitioner pleaded guilty to armed robbery counts in two separate cases. In each case, the trial court sentenced Petitioner to 75 years incarceration. The sentences were to run concurrent, and in each case the trial court retained jurisdiction over one-third of the sentence. On May 30, 2002, Petitioner filed a Rule 3.800(a) motion to correct illegal sentence. Petitioner's second claim argued his sentence was illegal because the trial court retained jurisdiction over one-third of Petitioner's sentence without stating sufficient reasons for doing so as required pursuant to section 947.16(3)(a), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1978).

In its order denying Petitioner relief, the trial court below acknowledged that in Macias v. State, 614 So.2d 1216 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1993), and Hampton v. State, 764 So.2d 829 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000), sister appellate courts in Florida have held a claim challenging the legal sufficiency of an order retaining jurisdiction over one-third of a sentence may be raised in a rule 3.800(a) motion. (R. 30). However, the court below noted those cases were distinguishable from the instant case because the reasons given for retention of jurisdiction were readily

available in court files. In Petitioner's case by contrast, it was unclear from the record what, if any, reasons were given for the court's retention of jurisdiction, and that a hearing would probably be necessary in order to determine this.

Notwithstanding this fact, the trial court further concluded Petitioner's claim was procedurally barred because the Second District Court of Appeal in King v. State, 805 So.2d 966 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001), and Mobley v. State, 590 So.2d 1023 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), held that this type of claim should be brought on direct appeal and not in a motion to correct illegal sentence.

Thereafter, on December 31, 2003, in an en banc decision, the Second District affirmed the trial court's decision to deny Petitioner relief based upon the instant claim. In Wright v. State, 864 So.2d 1153 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003)(en banc), the appellate court held Petitioner's challenge to the trial court's failure to provide reasons for retaining jurisdiction over sentencing was not a cognizable claim by way of motion to correct illegal sentence. In so holding, the Second District receded from its earlier opinion in King v. State, 835 So.2d 1224 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), and certified conflict with decisions of the First, Third, and Fourth Districts which hold a defendant may raise, pursuant to a motion to correct illegal

sentence, the legal sufficiency of sentencing orders retaining jurisdiction over one-third of a sentence. See Kirtsey v.

State, 855 So.2d 177 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003); Hernandez v. State,

825 So.2d 513 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002); Hampton v. State, 764 So.2d

829 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000); Macias v. State, 614 So.2d 1216 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993).

In King, supra, the Second District held that a rule 3.800(a) motion is a proper vehicle to challenge the trial court's reservation of jurisdiction over a sentence. The same court, however, receded from its previous holding concluding the decision in King is inconsistent with the Florida Supreme Court's continually refined definition of an illegal sentence. <u>Wright</u>, at 1154. In so ruling, the Second District took note that in Davis v. State, 661 So.2d 1193, 1196 (Fla. 1995), receded from in part on other grounds, and Mack v. State, 823 So. 2d 746, 748 (Fla. 2002), this Court held that an illegal sentence is one that exceeds the maximum period set forth by law for a particular offense without regard to the guidelines. Pursuant to this language, the Davis Court held that failure to file written findings for a departure sentence does not constitute an illegal sentence, thus, is not subject to challenge under rule 3.800(a). Davis, supra, at 1196-97.

In the instant case, the district court below did recognize that in <u>State v. Mancio</u>, 714 So.2d 429, 433 (Fla.

1998), this Court expanded the definition of an illegal sentence to include a sentence that patently fails to comport with statutory or constitutional limitations. For example, the failure to credit a defendant with jail time served constituted an "illegal" sentence that should be corrected pursuant to rule 3.800(a). Even so, the district court below, following <u>Davis</u>, <u>supra</u>, continued to hold that a challenge to departure reasons is not cognizable in a rule 3.800(a) motion. <u>See e.g. Williams v. State</u>, 734 So.2d 1113 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999).

In Maddox v. State, 760 So.2d 89, 107-08 (Fla. 2000), this Court again addressed the issue of what constitutes an "illegal sentence." To this end, the Maddox court held the failure to file written departure reasons is a fundamental error for purposes of direct appeal. Importantly, however, as the district court below noted, the Maddox court did not recede from its previous holding in Davis that failure to file written reasons for a departure sentence does not constitute an illegal sentence. Wright, at 1155. By analogy, the Second District in the instant case concluded a challenge to the sufficiency of the reasons for a trial court's retention of jurisdiction is comparable to a challenge to a trial court's failure to provide departure reasons for a sentence.

Recent cases by this Court support the Second District's conclusion in the instant case. For example, it appears this

Court has retreated from its definition of illegal sentence as formulated in Mancio, supra. In Carter v. State, 786 So.2d 1173 (Fla. 2001), this court observed the Mancio definition, "patently fails to comport with statutory or constitutional limitations" may be overly broad because it encompasses all patent sentencing errors. Carter, at 1178. As this Court in Carter stated:

We continue to refine our definition of "illegal sentence" in an attempt to strike the proper balance between concerns for finality and concerns for fundamental fairness in sentencing. In this endeavor, we have been assisted ably by the appellate courts, which continue to be confronted daily with the question of what sentences are "illegal" and correctable "at any time" and what sentences, although failing to comply with the law, are not subject to correction.

Carter, at 1178. (emphasis added).

Moreover, in <u>Bover v. State</u>, 797 So.2d 1246, 1251 (Fla. 2001), this Court expressly approved the Second District's decision in <u>Judge v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 73 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992). In that case, the Second District noted:

Rule 3.800(a) is intended to provide relief for a narrow category of cases in which the sentence imposes a penalty that is simply not authorized by law. It is concerned primarily with whether the terms and conditions of the punishment for a particular offense are permissible as a matter of law. It is not a vehicle designed to re-examine whether the procedure employed to impose the punishment comported with statutory law and due process. Unlike a motion pursuant to rule 3.850, the motion can be filed without an oath because it is designed to test issues that should not involve significant questions of fact or require a lengthy

evidentiary hearing.

<u>Judge</u>, at 77. (emphasis added).

Respondent contends the sentence received by Petitioner in the instant case was not the kind of punishment imposed that no judge under the entire body of sentencing statutes could possibly inflict under any set of factual circumstances. See Blakley v. State, 746 So. 2d 1182, 1186-87 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999). Instead, like the facts in Davis, supra, Respondent submits any error by trial court in failing to set forth specific reasons for retaining jurisdiction over Petitioner's sentence was a mere defect in comporting with the statutory procedural safeguards employed as part of the court's discretionary imposition of sentence. Thus, relying on <u>Davis</u>, any failure by the court below to consider the procedural safeguards under section 947.16(3)(a), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1978), does not make Petitioner's sentence "illegal." Compare Lee v. State, 679 So.2d 1158 (Fla. 1996)(Court's erroneous failure to consider whether defendant qualified for discretionary youthful offender sentencing did not render sentence illegal for purposes of Rule 3.800).

Finally, Respondent contends Petitioner's claim, "an erroneous reservation of jurisdiction creates an ongoing violation of the separation of powers provision set forth in article II, section 3, of the Florida Constitution," is

without merit. In <u>Borden v. State</u>, 402 So.2d 1176 (Fla. 1981), this Court recognized the authority of the legislature to set conditions under which parole may be granted. <u>Id.</u> at 1177. Consequently, this Court expressly held the statute permitting a review of parole decisions in certain instances and for a certain period of time is not unconstitutional. <u>Id.</u>

For these reasons, the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Wright v. State</u>, 864 So.2d 1153 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), should be affirmed, and the positions held by the First, Third, and Fourth Districts quashed by this Court.

ISSUE II

PETITIONER'S SENTENCE WAS NOT ILLEGAL BECAUSE THE STATUTE PERMITTING RETENTION OF JURISDICTION OVER PETITIONER'S SENTENCE IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

(As restated by

Respondent).

Petitioner argues this Court should recede from its decision in <u>Borden v. State</u>, 402 So.2d 1176 (Fla. 1981), where this Court expressly held the statute permitting a review of parole decisions in certain instances and for a certain period of time is not unconstitutional. (Petitioner's Initial Brief at 21-34).

Respondent notes Petitioner's facial constitutional challenge to section 947.16(3), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1978), was never raised in the trial court nor was the issue raised for the first time on direct appeal to the appellate court below within the context of fundamental error. Compare State v. Johnson, 616 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1993); Heggs v. State, 759 So.2d

620 (Fla. 2000). Consequently, this issue not properly before this Court.

Instead, any constitutional challenge to this statute by Petitioner should follow usual procedures, with the initial challenge proceeding in the proper circuit court. See Memorial Hospital-West Volusia, Inc., v. News-Journal Corporation, 729 So.2d 373, 384 (Fla. 1999). Similarly, despite Petitioner's suggestion his challenge is, in essence, a challenge to the trial court's continuing jurisdiction over the instant case, Respondent submits this Court should not treat the instant proceeding as a petition for writ of prohibition. See e.g. Sparkman v. McClure, 498 So.2d 892 (Fla. 1986)(Supreme Court should not entertain a petition for writ of prohibition filed in place of an appeal or any other appellate remedy).

As previously noted in Issue I of this brief, the Florida Supreme Court has expressly held the statute permitting judicial review of parol decisions in certain instances and for a certain period of time is constitutional. See Borden v. State, 402 So.2d 1176 (Fla. 1981). In the construction of statutes, the rule is almost invariably to adhere to the doctrine of stare decisis, since it is of the utmost importance the statutory law be of certain meaning and fixed interpretation. See Old Plantation Corp. V. Maule Industries, Inc., 68 So.2d 180 (Fla. 1953). It follows, Petitioner has

failed to clearly show how this Court's legal analysis in holding the instant statute constitutional was so clearly erroneous as to require this Court to retreat from twenty-three years of precedence. See also Harmon v. State, 438 So.2d 369 (Fla. 1983); Springfield v. State, 443 So.2d 484 (Fla. 1984).

Accordingly, the decision of the Second District should be affirmed, and the positions held by the First, Third, and Fourth Districts quashed by this Court.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing discussions, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court approve the opinion of the district court below.